IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 17-1971

LARRY D. EISENHAUER, Conservator, ex. rel., Conservatorship of T.D.,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

THE HENRY COUNTY HEALTH CENTER, JAMES WIDMER, M.D.,
and FAMILY MEDICINE OF MT. PLEASANT, P.C.,
Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR HENRY COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MARK KRUSE, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

JEFF GOODMAN
DANIEL PEACOCK
Goodman Law, P.C.
1501 42nd Street, Suite 300
West Des Moines, IA 50266
Telephone: 515-267-8600
Fax: 515-224-2075
jeff@golawpc.com
daniel@golawpc.com

MICHAEL J. MORELAND
Harrison, Moreland, Webber & Simplot, P.C.
129 West Fourth Street
Ottumwa, Iowa 52501
Telephone: 641-682-8326

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Did the trial court err when it refused to instruct the jury on certain specifications of negligence even though the specifications were supported by substantial evidence?

Authorities

Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)
Asher v. OB-Gyn Specialists, P.C., 846 N.W.2d 492 (Iowa 2014)
Bigalk v. Bigalk, 540 N.W.2d 247 (Iowa 1995)
Coker v. Abell-Howe Co., 491 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1992)
Duncan v. City of Cedar Rapids, 560 N.W.2d 320 (Iowa 1997)
Herbst v. State, 616 N.W.2d 582 (Iowa 2000)
Kennis v. Mercy Hosp. Medical Center, 491 N.W.2d 161 (Iowa 1992)
Oswald v. LeGrand, 453 N.W.2d 634 (Iowa 1990)
Sonnek v. Warren, 522 N.W.2d 45 (Iowa 1994)
Speed v. Skate, 240 N.W.2d 901 (Iowa 1976)
State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Marin, 788 N.W.2d 833 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Murray, 796 N.W.2d 907 (Iowa 2011)
Welte v. Bello, 482 N.W.2d 437, 439 (Iowa 1992)

- II. Did the trial court err in precluding T.D. from introducing relevant and probative evidence on Defendants' training and medical education in a medical practice case?

Authorities

Andersen v. Khanna, 896 N.W.2d 784 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017)
Graber v. City of Ankeny, 616 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 2000)
Heinz v. Heinz, 653 N.W.2d 334 (Iowa 2002)
Ipsen v. Ruess, 41 N.W.2d 658 (1950)
J.A.H. ex rel. R.M.H. v. Wadle & Assocs., P.C., 589 N.W.2d 256 (Iowa 1999)
Madsen v. Obermann, 22 N.W.2d 350 (Iowa 1950)
Oswald v. LeGrand, 453 N.W.2d 634 (Iowa 1990)
Speed v. Skate, 240 N.W.2d 901 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 1997)
State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d 180 (Iowa 2013)
Wicks v. Vanderbilt U., M2006-00613-COA-R3CV, 2007 WL 858780 (Tenn. App. Mar. 21, 2007)
Iowa R. of Evid. 5.401
Iowa R. of Evid. 5.402
Iowa R. of Evid. 5.403
Iowa Civil Jury Instruction 1600.2 Negligence – Duty of Physician
31 Am. Jur. 2d Expert and Opinion Evidence Section 88 (1989)
32 C.J.S., Evidence, § 571

III. Did the trial court err in allowing Dr. Widmer to testify on undisclosed expert opinions outside the scope of what a treating physician may testify to, despite his failure to comply with the disclosure requirements under Iowa law?

Authorities

Carson v. Webb, 486 N.W.2d 278, 281 (Iowa 1992)
Comes v. Microsoft Corp., 775 N.W.2d 302, 311 (Iowa 2009)
Cox v. Jones, 470 N.W.2d 23 (Iowa 1991)
Day by Ostby v. McIlrath, 469 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 1991)
Hansen v. Iowa Hosp. Corp., 686 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 2004)
Lawson v. Kurtzhals, 792 N.W.2d 251 (Iowa 2010)
Morris-Rosdail v. Schechinger, 576 N.W.2d 609 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998)
Squealer Feeds v. Pickering, 530 N.W.2d 678 (Iowa 1995)
State ex. rel. Parcel v. St. John, 308 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 1981)
Thomas v. Consolidated Rail Corp., 169 F.R.D. 1 (D. Mass 1996)
United States v. Procter & Gamble Co., 356 U.S. 677 (1958)
White v. Citizens Nat'l Bank, 262 N.W.2d 812 (Iowa 1978)
Whitley v. C.R. Pharm. Serv., Inc., 816 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2012)
Iowa Code § 668.11
Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500
Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.508

IV. Did the trial court err in restricting the jury's access to the birth DVD during deliberations while allowing unfettered access to Defendants' ten screenshots taken from the birth DVD, and granting motions in limine that were overly broad and prevented T.D. from presenting relevant and probative evidence?

Authorities

Brooks v. Holtz, 661 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 2003)

Graber v. City of Ankeny, 616 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 2000)

Lewis v. Buena Vista Mutual Association, 183 N.W.2d 198 (Iowa 1971)

State v. Hernandez, 832 N.W.2d 384 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013)

State v. Jackson, 387 N.W.2d 623 (Iowa Ct. App. 1986)

State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Voll, 655 N.W.2d 548 (Iowa Ct. App. 2002)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be decided by applying settled principles of Iowa law. Accordingly, this case should be routed to the Court of Appeals for resolution. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Appellant, Larry D. Eisenhauer, acting in his role as Conservator for T.D., appeals following the jury verdict entered in favor of Defendants and subsequent District Court Order dismissing T.D.'s claims against Appellees Dr. James Widmer, Family Medicine of Mt. Pleasant, P.C., and the Henry County Health Center ("HCHC"). The Honorable Judge Mark Kruse presided at all relevant proceedings.

This case concerns a medical negligence suit brought by Plaintiff against Defendants HCHC (HCHC is vicariously liable through the actions of two of their employee nurses), Dr. Widmer, and Dr. Widmer's employer Family Medicine of Mt. Pleasant, P.C. T.D. alleges Defendants' actions and omissions during T.D.'s birth resulted in T.D. suffering a permanent brachial plexus injury.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

The underlying action was originally filed on March 10, 2016. A two-week jury trial was held in November 2017. On November 17, 2017, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Defendants, finding no liability. Appellant filed a timely appeal on December 6, 2017, from the District Court's final Order entered on November 17, 2017, and all adverse rulings and orders inhering therein.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. T.D.

T.D. was born with a permanent brachial plexus injury on August 31, 2007. A permanent brachial plexus injury is a nerve injury that occurs when the nerves are stretched or torn in a traumatic nature. The injury prevents a person from having normal use and function of their arm, causes a significant cosmetic deformity, and is permanent. (Vol. 2 App. 137, 143-44). T.D. has received ongoing treatment for his permanent brachial plexus injury since his birth, including physical therapy. In 2014, a derotational osteotomy surgery was performed on T.D. The surgery involved cutting into T.D.'s arm, cutting and then rotating the humerus bone, and stabilizing the bone with a metal plate and screws. (Vol. 1 App. 194). The osteotomy allowed T.D. to use his arm in a different way but did not result in a net gain in range of motion. T.D.'s injury is permanent and he will never have full use of his arm. (Vol. 1 App. 194).

B. Defendants

Defendant Dr. Widmer, a specialist in family medicine, was responsible for the prenatal care of T.D.'s mother Lisa Hirschy ("Lisa") during her pregnancy with T.D., and the labor and delivery of T.D. (Vol. 1 App. 188). Dr. Widmer held himself out as a specialist in family medicine, treating all variety of medical conditions from birth until death. (Vol. 1 App. 188). At all relevant times, the Henry County Health Center ("HCHC") permitted Dr. Widmer to perform

obstetrics, including labor and delivery at HCHC. At all times material to this case, Dr. Widmer acted as an agent of Family Medicine of Mt. Pleasant, P.C. (Vol. 1 App. 188).

At all times relevant to this case, nurses Rebecca Fraise and Yvonne Sloan were obstetrical nurses at HCHC. Nurses Fraise and Sloan were responsible for providing care and treatment to Lisa and T.D. during T.D.'s labor and delivery. HCHC is vicariously liable for any actions and/or omissions of the nurses in this case. (Vol. 1 App. 187-88).

The HCHC nurses and Dr. Widmer constitute the delivery team, which was responsible for delivering T.D.

C. T.D.'s labor and delivery

On Friday, August, 31, 2007, Lisa presented to HCHC at approximately 10:30 a.m. because she had ruptured membranes. (Vol. 1 App. 189). Dr. Widmer ordered the administration of Pitocin due to the presence of ruptured membranes with no active labor. (Vol. 1 App. 190). Pitocin is a medicine that induces or augments contractions. The defendant nurses increased the rate of Pitocin at approximately 2:00 p.m., and again at 3:20 p.m. (Vol. 1 App. 190). Pitocin was continuously administered until T.D. was delivered. (Vol. 2 App. 233).

At approximately 5:00 p.m. Lisa entered the second stage of labor and was moved to a birthing chair. (Vol. 1 App. 187). The second stage of labor occurs

when the mother's cervix is fully dilated and the mother is at the point of pushing. (Vol. 2 App. 202). From 5:05 to 5:24 p.m. T.D.'s fetal heart tones ranged during pushing/contractions from 80 to 120 beats per minute. (Vol. 1 App. 191). Fetal distress or bradycardia is defined as a consistently slow fetal heart rate (the fetal heart rate remains below 110 for a full 10-minute period without raising above 110). (Vol. 1 App. 96). When fetal distress or bradycardia occurs, there is a danger that the fetus will be deprived of oxygen or nutrients and suffer a brain injury. A fetal heart rate of 80 to 90 beats per minute during pushing is not unusual because the fetus is compressed during contractions and pushing. (Vol. 1 App. 118).

Dr. Widmer claims T.D. suffered a bradycardia, and as result he had to deliver T.D. promptly. (Vol. 2 App. 225-26). The HCHC policy on oxytocin (Pitocin is the synthetic version of oxytocin) states that "fetal distress as evidenced by late decelerations, prolonged decelerations, or sustained fetal bradycardia" are "indications for terminating [Pitocin] induction/augmentation." (Vol. 3 App. 9). Dr. Widmer never terminated the administration of Pitocin throughout T.D.'s delivery. (Vol. 2 App. 233).

At approximately 5:30 p.m. T.D.'s head delivered but his left shoulder became stuck on Lisa's pelvis and T.D. suffered a shoulder dystocia. (Vol. 1 App. 191-92). A shoulder dystocia is a medical emergency that occurs when the baby's shoulder becomes stuck on the mother's pelvis after the baby's head is delivered.

(Vol. 1 App. 189). In a delivery where there is a shoulder dystocia, a physician has six minutes to safely deliver the baby before there is a risk of oxygen deprivation to the baby. (Vol. 2 App. 117). The physician must be careful not to “pull through” the shoulder dystocia, because such actions will injure the baby. Pulling too hard on the baby’s head or neck when the shoulder is still stuck stretches and tears the baby’s brachial plexus nerves, which can cause a permanent brachial plexus injury. (Vol. 2 App. 106-07).

Numerous maternal maneuvers, which are performed by the nursing staff on the mother, and fetal maneuvers, which are performed by the physician on the baby, exist for the delivery team to resolve the shoulder dystocia while reducing the risk of permanent brachial plexus injury to the baby. The maneuvers are designed to disengage the stuck shoulder and allow the physician to deliver the baby with gentle traction or pulling once the shoulder is safely dislodged. Such maneuvers include but are not limited to the maternal maneuvers (nurse performed maneuvers) of:

- a. McRobert’s
- b. Suprapubic Pressure
- c. Gaskin (all fours maneuver)

and the fetal maneuvers (physician performed maneuvers) of:

- d. Wood’s screw (and Reverse Wood’s screw)
- e. Delivery of Posterior Arm and Shoulder

f. Rubin

g. Zavanelli.

(Vol. 1 App. 195). Dr. Widmer was only familiar with two of these maneuvers, namely, McRobert's and suprapubic pressure. Dr. Widmer admitted that he had never performed any of the fetal maneuvers during any delivery and was unfamiliar with nearly all of them. (Vol. 1 App. 195); (Vol. 2 App. 234-36).

After recognizing the shoulder dystocia at approximately 5:30 p.m., the members of the delivery team continued to instruct Lisa to push until the shoulder dystocia was resolved. In fact, a DVD of the birth—recorded by Lisa's sister—shows that after the recognition of shoulder dystocia, members of the delivery team instructed Lisa to push 17 more times before the shoulder dystocia was resolved. No member of the delivery team instructed Lisa to stop pushing after the shoulder dystocia was recognized and before it was resolved. (Vol. 2 App. 214-15). T.D.'s experts opined that these actions breached the standard of care. (Vol. 2 App. 106).

Shortly after recognizing the shoulder dystocia, the HCHC nurses attempted the McRobert's maneuver to relieve the stuck shoulder. (Vol. 2 App. 102). After attempting to perform the McRobert's maneuver for nearly a minute, Nurse Sloan attempted to perform suprapubic pressure with an open hand for approximately 18 seconds. (Vol. 2 App. 71-72, 113-14). The HCHC policy on

suprapubic pressure says nurses should apply suprapubic pressure with a fist. (Vol. 2 App. 71).

T.D.'s experts opined that the nurses did not perform the McRobert's maneuver or suprapubic pressure properly or effectively. (Vol. 2 App. 70, 86, 111). As a result of the inadequately performed maneuvers, T.D.'s shoulder remained stuck. (Vol. 2 App. 111). T.D.'s experts opined that in the face of the stuck shoulder, Dr. Widmer applied inappropriate, continuous, and excessive traction—by pulling too hard on T.D.'s head and neck—despite T.D.'s shoulder remaining stuck. (Vol. 2 App. 111). T.D.'s experts opined that it was the inappropriate traction continuously applied by Dr. Widmer throughout the shoulder dystocia event that ultimately released the stuck shoulder and caused the brachial plexus injury. (Vol. 2 App. 111, 137-39). T.D.'s experts further opined that in light of the inadequate maternal maneuvers that failed to safely dislodge T.D.'s stuck shoulder, Dr. Widmer should have moved on to the fetal maneuvers in order to atraumatically disengage the stuck shoulder instead of applying inappropriate, excessive, and continuous traction to T.D.'s head and neck in order to deliver T.D. (Vol. 2 App. 111).

T.D. was delivered at approximately 5:31 p.m., around a minute and ten seconds after the shoulder dystocia was recognized. As a result of the delivery, T.D.'s left arm was bruised at birth and he sustained a permanent brachial plexus injury to his left brachial plexus. T.D.'s brachial plexus injury was due to the

stretching of the peripheral nerves in his neck during the birthing process. (Vol. 1 App. 193). T.D.'s experts opined that T.D.'s injury was a direct result of the delivery team's errors. (Vol. 2 App. 111, 137-39). T.D.'s experts testified that the delivery team breached the standard of care by improperly performing the maternal maneuvers to dislodge the stuck shoulder and that Dr. Widmer breached the standard of care by applying inappropriate, continuous, and excessive traction to T.D.'s head and neck—pulling too hard—despite T.D.'s shoulder remaining stuck. (Vol. 2 App. 111).

D. Dr. Widmer's lack of education and training

Dr. Widmer graduated from medical school in 1978 and completed his residency for his specialty as a family physician in 1981. (Vol. 1 App. 194). In August of 2007 when T.D. was born, Dr. Widmer spent five to ten percent of his time delivering babies. (Vol. 1 App. 194); (Vol. 2 App. 201). Since completing his medical residency in 1981, there is no record of Dr. Widmer receiving continuing medical education (“CME”) on McRobert's, suprapubic pressure, Wood's maneuver, delivery of the posterior arm, or Zavanelli maneuver. (Vol. 1 App. 194). Dr. Widmer could not recall ever taking a CME course related to shoulder dystocia. (Vol. 3 App. 21).

Dr. Widmer's CME records showed that from 1997 to August 31, 2007—the date T.D. was born—Dr. Widmer took approximately 400.25 hours of CME credits. (*See* Vol. 3 App. 16-93). Only eight out of the 400.25 CME hours were

“potentially related to obstetrics.” (*See* Vol. 3 App. 21, 23-33; 16-93). The records also show that from 2002 to 2016 Dr. Widmer spent less than 1% of his CME’s on topics “potentially related to obstetrics.” (*See* Vol. 3 App. 93); (Vol. 2 App. 177).

E. Defendants failure to retain medical records

HCHC admitted that it failed to maintain T.D’s fetal heart monitoring strips in accordance with its own policy. (Vol. 1 App. 199); (Vol. 3 App. 119). The fetal heart monitoring strips record the baby’s heart rate second-by-second in relation to the mother’s contractions. The strips would definitely show whether a baby suffered bradycardia or fetal distress, or merely variable decelerations. (Vol. 2 App. 120-21).

F. Pre-trial Proceedings

The trial court granted 16 out of 19 of Defendants’ Motions in Limine prior to trial. (Vol. 1 App. 340). The overly broad relief requested by Defendants and granted by the trial court included Defendants’ Motion in Limine No. 4, which barred “[a]ny reference to, or evidence concerning . . . HCHC’s training and credentialing processes and activities,” and Defendants’ Motion in Limine No. 19, which barred “[a]ny reference to, or evidence concerning Dr. Widmer’s training as a family practice physician, including Dr. Widmer’s CME records.” (Vol. 1 App. 214, 229, 340).

G. Trial Proceedings

In accordance with its pre-trial rulings, the trial court prevented T.D. from presenting any evidence on Dr. Widmer's CME records. (Vol. 2 App. 177). T.D. made an offer of proof at trial on the admissibility of the CME records but the trial court maintained its ruling barring the evidence. (Vol. 2 App 177). The trial court also prohibited T.D. from impeaching Dr. Widmer's credibility with the CME records, even though Dr. Widmer testified as an expert on the standard of care for the obstetrical maneuvers performed in this case and the records would have shown that Dr. Widmer spent less than 1% of his CME hours on topics "potentially related to obstetrics" from 2002 to 2016. (Vol. 3 App. 93); (Vol. 2 App. 175-77).

The trial court also allowed Dr. Widmer to testify as an expert on new, undisclosed opinions on the standard of care and bradycardia despite his failure to make any of the required expert disclosures. (Vol. 2 App. 208-09); (Vol. 2 App. 246-64). After his designation, Dr. Widmer never disclosed any of his expert opinions in a written report or summary pursuant to Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.500(2) despite numerous requests from T.D. to do so. (Vol. 3 App. 16, 67-68, 71-72). Dr. Widmer also failed to respond to T.D.'s Request for Production No. 6, which asked Defendants' experts to produce all the documents they intended to refer to or rely upon for trial. (Vol. 3 App. 19).

On November 10, 2017—63 days after the close of discovery and three days into the trial—Dr. Widmer listened to the birth DVD and made notes that timed the heart rate at various times during the delivery. (Vol. 2 App. 265, 431-32). These notes were not disclosed during discovery, nor were they disclosed as a trial exhibit or in any other way before Dr. Widmer produced them for the first time on November 15, 2017 (the sixth day of trial). (Vol. 2 App. 246-64). T.D.’s counsel learned of these notes for the first time on November 15, 2017, when Dr. Widmer pulled them from his pocket during his trial testimony. (Vol. 2 App. 246-53). Opposing counsel knew of the existence of these notes before Dr. Widmer took the stand to testify on November 15, 2017—opposing counsel had a digital copy of the notes that he projected to the jury—but failed to disclose these notes to T.D.’s counsel beforehand. (Vol. 2 App. 246-64).

H. Jury Instructions

In T.D.’s original proposed marshalling instructions, T.D. submitted eleven specifications of negligence against Dr. Widmer, and eight specifications of negligence against the HCHC nurses. (Vol. 1 App. 199-200, 231-34). After the close of evidence, the trial court sua sponte determined T.D.’s specifications needed to be narrowed down. (Vol. 2 App. 325). In complying with the trial court’s demand, T.D. submitted revised proposed marshalling instructions for Dr. Widmer and the HCHC nurses. T.D. included six specifications of

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