IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 17-1971

**LARRY EISENHAUER, as the Conservator for TD,
Plaintiff-Appellant**

vs.

**THE HENRY COUNTY HEALTH CENTER, JAMES WIDMER, MD.,
and FAMILY MEDICINE OF MT. PLEASANT, P.C.,
Defendants-Appellees.**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR
HENRY COUNTY LALA011871
THE HONORABLE MARK KRUSE**

Defendant-Appellee Henry County Health Center's Final Brief

JENNIFER E. RINDEN AT0006606
ROBERT D. HOUGHTON AT0003739
NANCY J. PENNER AT0006146

for

SHUTTLEWORTH & INGERSOLL,
P.L.C.

500 U.S. Bank Bldg., P.O. Box 2107
Cedar Rapids, IA 52406

PHONE: (319) 365-9461

FAX: (319) 365-8443

e-mail: njp@shuttleworthlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-

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

based upon the discovery rules. App. II, 271-72 (Vol III, 123:18-124:1); App. III, 190 (Court Exh. CC).

Plaintiff fails to acknowledge that Dr. Widmer is more than a treating physician—he is a party. Plaintiff cites no authority that a defendant physician, who is also necessarily a treating physician, cannot testify about factual information or about the evidence presented at trial unless that is previously disclosed as an expert or treating physician opinion. The subject matter concerned the facts at the delivery of TD –specifically what was audible to those in the delivery room in terms of the baby’s heart tones and rate. The court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the testimony. *See also* App. II, 254 (Vol III, 104:10-13, HCHC counsel argument at trial: “I think that the witness ought to be able to testify what he was hearing at the time.”).

D. There was no prejudice.

Plaintiff argues he was “ambushed;” could not prepare to meet Dr. Widmer’s new opinions, including those expressed in the notes; and could not adequately cross-examine Dr. Widmer. Plaintiff’s brief 57-58. Plaintiff has not established prejudice.

A single question on standard of care to Dr. Widmer—the answer to which could not have surprised Plaintiff—caused no prejudice. There was no ambush, no surprise, and no inability to respond. Further, Dr. Widmer’s opinion

is cumulative to Dr. Boyles. The admission of cumulative evidence is not prejudicial. *See Estate of Long*, 656 N.W.2d at 88-89; 7 Iowa Practice, §5.403.1 (E) (2003) (“admission of cumulative evidence is not a prejudicial error.”).

As to the notes and testimony about the notes, they are derived from Plaintiff’s own exhibit—the birth video. The birth video was Plaintiff’s video. It was in evidence as Exhibit 8 and had been shown to the jury multiple times by this point in the trial. *See Part IVA*. There was no information on Dr. Widmer’s notes (what he heard on the video) that was not available to Plaintiff. The video was available to Plaintiff long before it was available to the defense and Dr. Widmer’s notes were made available promptly.²²

The same information that Dr. Widmer obtained listening to the video during trial could have been obtained (with much more time) by playing the 21 minute video²³ again at trial during Dr. Widmer’s re-direct. As counsel argued to the court at the time “under 403, we think that would be an incredible waste of time.” App. II, 255 (Vol III, 105:14-24).

Further, the use of Dr. Widmer’s notes, which summarized the trial evidence, is akin to Plaintiff’s trial tactic of having each expert fill out a blank

²² Dr. Widmer’s counsel became aware of the notes on a break during trial on the same day they were brought to the attention of the court and Plaintiff. App. II, 247, 255-56 (Vol III, 97:2-6, 105:14-106:2).

²³ The video was 21 minutes long. App. I, 267 (Vol III, 119:8-9).

exhibit to reflect their trial testimony as to the number of deliveries they participated in over their career and estimated number of shoulder dystocias. *See, e.g.*, Supp. App. 20 (Exh. 162A); App. II, 286-87 (Vol III, 197:14-198:20, Plaintiff’s counsel explaining to HCHC expert nurse Sanborn: “We’re doing this with all the witnesses . . . Would you just fill this sheet out and I’ll ask you each question). While Dr. Widmer created notes while listening during trial, Plaintiff asked experts to create a trial exhibit—which was not disclosed in discovery—based upon trial testimony.²⁴

IV. The district court’s ruling as to the birth video and limine orders do not support a new trial.

A. The birth video.

1. Standard of review.

HCHC agrees that the district court’s ruling as to the jury’s access to the birth video is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See Brooks v. Holtz*, 661 N.W.2d 526, 532 (Iowa 2003) (“[S]ubmission of exhibits to the jury is a matter resting in [the] trial court’s discretion.”); *State v. Baumann*, 236 N.W.2d 361, 366 (Iowa 1975) (trial court has “considerable discretion” in acting on a jury request to hear tape recordings during deliberations).

²⁴ *See* App. II, 65-66 (Vol 1, 248:14-249:6, court overruling defense objection to exhibit for Nurse Sprague as information is “already in the record”); *Id.* 87-90 (Vol I, 319:16-322:9, Plaintiff’s expert Duboe completing similar exhibit and court overruling defense hearsay and cumulative objection to exhibit).

2. Preservation of error.

HCHC agrees Plaintiff preserved error as to the jury's access to the birth video. App. II, 387-94, 399-401 (Vol III, 328:10-335:9; 343:19-345:2).

3. The district court did not abuse its discretion in only allowing the jury to view the birth video once during deliberations.

Before the jury began deliberations and after closing arguments, the district court stated to the jury:

. . . You'll have the exhibits in the jury room. As stated by the lawyers in the case, if you wish to review the birth tape again, we will have that set up. We will play it from beginning to end. Actually, I think we probably do it in here, not in the jury room, because that TV is bigger and you have a little bit more room, and I think the acoustics would probably be a bit better. So we would to that, just let somebody know. Very simple, okay?

Id. 445-46 (Vol III, 475:22- 476:5). The jury did ask to see the video and the court allowed the request. App. I, 400-04 (11-17-17 notice and record entry re juror note).

The district court and counsel discussed the issue at length the day before. App. II, 387-404 (Vol III, 328:10-335:9). The district court ruled that it would allow the video to be played once rather than allowing unlimited access to the video. *Id.* 390, 400-01 (Vol III, 331:19-23; 344:22-345:2, court noting ruling was consistent the case law reviewed). The district court did not abuse its discretion.

In *Brooks*, 661 N.W.2d at 532, the Iowa Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's ruling that the jury would not be allowed to have a tape of an accident scene during deliberations. As in this case, in *Brooks*, the video was shown several times to the jury, contained audible comments, was admitted into evidence, and plaintiff requested that the jury be allowed to have the video. *Id.* After discussing Iowa law that certain types of evidence may be given disproportionate importance when allowed during deliberations, the Supreme Court found no abuse of discretion: "This judgment call was one for the trial court to make." *Id.*

The same is true in this case. It was for the district court, who sat through the entire trial and heard the testimony and argument about the video and who watched and heard the video the same number of times as the jury, to make the judgment call as to whether unlimited access to the video would cause undue emphasis and prejudice. *See also Baumann*, 236 N.W.2d at 366 (upholding trial court ruling to withhold audio tape from jury in deliberations even though requested by jury); *State v. McCullough*, 2012 WL 5541238 *4 (Iowa Ct. App. 2012) (affirming trial court's ruling, "limiting the jury to a single viewing of [a] video," as it protected against the risk that the jury would "replay parts of the interview multiple times, overemphasizing it in comparison to other evidence"); *id.* ("by arranging a single showing in the courtroom, the district court ensured

the jury did not improperly use the DVD exhibit.”); *State v. Mack*, 2012 WL 2819367 *3 (Iowa Ct. App. 2012) (affirming trial court’s order to deny jury request to review video evidence, citing relevant factors including need to protect against improper use).

The birth video was 21 minutes long. It was shown multiple times to jury.²⁵ Plaintiff essentially had unlimited opportunity at trial to show the video during witness examinations. *See* App. II, 80 (Vol 1, 266:15-21, court overruling cumulative objection to video); *Id.* 213 (Vol III, 30:4-9, same).

Videos possess an inherent ability to over-emphasize evidence. *See Bannister v. Town of Noble*, 812 F.2d 1265, 1269 (10th Cir. 1987) (acknowledging “dominating nature of film evidence” as a “legitimate concern;” discussing concern that jury will give greater weight to film). If allowed in the jury room the jurors could draw conclusions from parts of birth video that the parties’ experts did not address. While the video was 21 minutes long, Plaintiff agrees that the parties’ experts focused on one minute and eleven seconds of the video. Plaintiff’s brief 68 (“Experts for both sides devoted extensive testimony to this time frame.”).

²⁵ *See* App. II, 60-62, 73, 74-80, 80-82, 103-110 (Vol I, 116:20-118:25, 256:13-17, 260:17-266:10, 266:12-268:15, 391:1-398:9); App. II, 140-42 (Vol II, 44:5-46:7); App. II, 213-24, 273-78 (Vol III, 30:18-41:16, 139:2-144:9).

If allowed to start and stop the video without restriction during deliberations, the jury could focus on aspects that the experts did not find relevant to the issues in this case, draw its own conclusions about such parts without the aid of an expert witness, and place undue emphasis on irrelevant parts of the video.

The rationale for the rule that medical treatises are not admitted as exhibits applies to the birth video in this case. Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.803(18) prohibits the introduction of literature as an exhibit—even if this hearsay exception applies to allow medical literature to be read at trial.²⁶ There are sound reasons for not allowing the jury to pour over medical literature—or an expert-sensitive video—during deliberations. As the Advisory Committee Notes for the Federal Rule on medical literature explain:

. . . The rule avoids the danger of misunderstanding and misapplication by limiting the use of treatises as substantive evidence to situations in which an expert is on the stand and available to explain and assist in the application of the treatise if desired. The limitation upon receiving the publication itself physically in evidence, contained in the last sentence, is designed, to further this policy.

Fed. R. Evid 803, Advisory Committee Notes.²⁷

²⁶ Rule 5.803(18) provides that if proper foundation is laid, statements in a treatise “may be read into evidence but not received as an exhibit.”

²⁷ See also *Tart v. McGann*, 697 F.2d 75, 78 n.2 (2nd Cir. 1982) (“The last sentence of Rule 803(18) prohibits the admission of treatises as exhibits, in

The above rationale applies to the birth video in this case and distinguishes the cases relied upon by Plaintiff that a court may, in its discretion, allow access to a recording during deliberations. Neither *State v. Jackson*, 387 N.W.2d 623, 628-29 (Iowa Ct. App. 1986) nor *State v. Hernandez*, 2013 WL 1452958 **4-6 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013) involved expert testimony giving relevance to and explaining the recordings at issue. The video—alone and in and of itself—was not the critical evidence. It was the medical and nursing testimony about the video that gave it relevance and importance.

Nor was the trial court obligated to allow the jury unlimited access to the video given the admission of defense exhibit BB (10 screenshots from the video). Those screenshots were used during expert witness testimony. *See, e.g.*, App. II, 211 (Vol III, 7:11-19). They constitute a small fraction of the entire video. In contrast, there was 21 minutes of the video—much of which was never the subject of expert testimony.

Plaintiff did not overcome the presumption that the trial court’s ruling was correct. *See Williams*, 445 N.W.2d at 394 (“Rulings within the trial court’s discretion are ‘presumptively correct, and a party challenging the ruling has a heavy burden to overcome the presumption.’”).

order ‘to prevent a jury from rifling through a learned treatise and drawing improper inferences from technical language it might not be able properly to understand without expert guidance.’”)(citation omitted).

4. There was no prejudice.

Plaintiff cannot demonstrate that the exclusion of the birth video from the jury room caused him prejudice. Plaintiff was unrestricted in his ability to examine and cross-examine the witnesses on the video. The jury heard all the evidence relating to the video that Plaintiff desired to introduce from multiple witnesses. *See, e.g., Taylor v. State*, 352 N.W.2d 683, 687 (Iowa 1984) (“withholding of cumulative testimony will not ordinarily” establish prejudice).

B. The limine orders.

1. Standard of review.

HCHC agrees evidentiary rulings are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See* authority under Part II A.

2. Preservation of error.

HCHC does not agree that Plaintiff preserved error on the motion in limine issues. Plaintiff includes a long list of granted limine motions which Plaintiff allege should not have been granted. Plaintiff’s brief 70. However, Plaintiff does not even identify the subject matter for any but two limine points and only argues there were offers of proof for two. *Id.* 65, 70 (only addressing defense limine No. 4 and 19 and only identifying offers of proof regarding the nurses’ training and Dr. Widmer’s CME records). Thus, the only *possible*

limine orders for which Plaintiff preserved error were defense limine motion 4 and 19.

"Preserving a claim that evidence was erroneously excluded requires an offer of proof . . . ". Thomas Mayes & Anuradha Vaitheswaran, *Error Preservation in Civil Appeals in Iowa: Perspectives on Present Practice*, 55 Drake L. Rev. 39, 59 (2006); *Johnson v. Interstate Power Co.*, 481 N.W.2d 310, 317 (Iowa 1992) (party failed to preserve error by failing to make an offer of proof of evidence excluded by trial court's ruling sustaining a motion in limine as "there is nothing preserved to review on appeal.").

In addition, when a party fails to address a topic in an appeal brief it is waived. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g) ("Failure to cite authority in support of an issue may be deemed waiver of that issue."); *McCleary v. Wirtz*, 222 N.W.2d 409, 415 (Iowa 1974) ("plaintiffs neither present argument on that issue nor is reference made to any authority touching on the subject. Therefore the assignment is deemed waived.").

Plaintiff cannot cure this in reply. *See Young v. Gregg*, 480 N.W.2d 75, 78 (Iowa 1992) ("[W]e have long held that an issue cannot be asserted for the first time in a reply brief."); *State v. Walker*, 574 N.W.2d 280, 288 (Iowa 1998) (declining to consider argument raised for the first time in reply brief).

In addition, Plaintiff did not preserve error as to the defense motion in limine No. 4 (regarding training evidence). While Plaintiff asserts he made an offer of proof on this subject—he did not. The cited transcript pertains to an offer of proof relating to HCHC’s record retention policy, not training. *See App. III, 118-19* (Court Exh 409, J. Wilson deposition excerpt regarding HCHC’s policy on retention of documents); *Id. 14* (Court Exh. 14, HCHC Policy on record retention); *App. II, 166-71, 174-76* (Vol II, 197:13-202:21, 211:17-214:22). Plaintiff identified no offer of proof as to the training of nursing staff.

As to the defense motion in limine No. 19, Plaintiff cites his offer of proof regarding Dr. Widmer’s CME records. *See App. II, 177* (Vol III, 214:3-14, offering Court Exhibits 137, 139, 139A, 140). For the reasons set forth under Part II B, Plaintiff has also failed to preserve this issue as well.

3. The district court did not abuse its discretion.

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